





Antiviral Research 71 (2006) 172-180

Mini-review

Antiviral therapy for adenovirus infections

L. Lenaerts, L. Naesens*

Rega Institute for Medical Research, Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Minderbroedersstraat 10, B-3000 Leuven, Belgium Received 17 February 2006; accepted 6 April 2006

Dedicated to Prof. Erik De Clercq on the occasion of reaching the status of Emeritus-Professor at the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven in September 2006.

Abstract

The treatment of severe adenovirus keratoconjunctivitis and life-threatening adenovirus infections in immunocompromised patients is still unsatisfactory. We here review the mode of action and antiviral data for cidofovir and ribavirin, obtained in cell culture, animal models or patients. Several nucleoside or nucleotide analogues have been described that target the adenovirus polymerase, whereas other antiviral targets have been poorly investigated. Furthermore, optimal therapeutic response may be achieved by combining antiviral therapy with immunotherapeutic approaches, as currently being explored.

© 2006 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Adenovirus; Immunocompromised host; Antiviral; Cidofovir; Ribavirin; Immunotherapy

Contents

	Introduction 1						
2.	Anti-adenovirus therapy with cidofovir and ribavirin						
	2.1. Mode of action	173					
	2.2. Antiviral assays for adenovirus	173					
	2.3. In vitro data	174					
	2.4. In vivo data	174					
	2.5. Clinical data	174					
3.	New nucleoside/nucleotide analogues	176					
	. New targets for anti-adenovirus therapy						
5.	Immunotherapy for adenovirus infections						
6.	Perspectives						
	Acknowledgments	177					
	References	177					

1. Introduction

Adenoviruses (Ads) are non-enveloped, lytic DNA viruses with a linear double-stranded genome and icosahedral symmetry. To date, 51 human adenovirus serotypes have been described, grouped into six species (A–F) based on genome size,

composition and organization, DNA homology, hemagglutinating properties, and oncogenicity in rodents. This subdivision has some clinical relevance as distinct adenovirus species show a preference for specific organs: C, E, and some B species typically infect the respiratory tract, other B species the urinary tract; species A and F target the gastrointestinal tract and species D the eyes (Kojaoghlanian et al., 2003). The receptor usage, which differs among adenovirus subgroups, may in part determine the tissue tropism of different adenoviruses (Mei et al., 1998; Segerman et al., 2003; Xiao et al., 2005).

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +32 16 337345; fax: +32 16 337340. *E-mail address*: lieve.naesens@rega.kuleuven.be (L. Naesens).

Primary adenovirus infections usually occur in young children; approximately 5% of the acute respiratory illnesses in children up to 5 years is due to an adenovirus infection (Brandt et al., 1969) and enteric adenoviruses are a major cause of viral gastroenteritis in infants. In immunocompetent individuals, infections can manifest in diverse clinical syndromes, such as upper and lower respiratory tract disease, (kerato)conjunctivitis, gastroenteritis and hemorrhagic cystitis. In rare cases, hepatitis, myocarditis, meningoencephalitits or nephritis are encountered (Straussberg et al., 2001; Chuang et al., 2003). Adenovirus disease in immunocompetent individuals is mostly mild and self-limiting with few long-term consequences, and therefore does not warrant antiviral therapy. However, the availability of an antiviral therapy for ocular adenovirus infections may be of socio-economic value.

In individuals with an impaired immune response, lifethreatening adenovirus infections are common. Among these are patients with hereditary immunodeficiencies [such as severe combined immunodeficiency patients], transplant recipients receiving immunosuppressive therapy and patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) (reviewed in Kojaoghlanian et al., 2003). In these patients, adenovirus infections may remain asymptomatic; however, infection often results in severe manifestations such as hemorrhagic cystitis, enteritis, hepatitis, encephalitis, pneumonitis, and multiple-organ failure. Disseminated infections frequently show a fatal outcome (Chakrabarti et al., 2002; Schilham et al., 2002). Pediatric transplantation patients are at three times higher risk for adenovirus infection than adult patients and are particularly prone to disseminated disease, with mortality rates up to 83% (Munoz et al., 1998; Howard et al., 1999; Baldwin et al., 2000). Whether adenovirus disease in the immunocompromised host results from a primary infection or from reactivation of latent virus is still unclear. Adenoviruses can establish an asymptomatic persistent infection with intermittent viral shedding, the probable source of persistent virus being mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (Garnett et al., 2002).

Due to the growing number of transplant recipients and AIDS patients, the impact of severe adenovirus infections, and, concurrently, the need for effective antiviral therapy, is increasing. Unfortunately, no formally approved drugs are yet available. Two antiviral compounds, i.e., cidofovir and ribavirin, have been used in clinical studies, with variable outcome. In addition, a number of investigational compounds have been reported to have activity against adenoviruses in cell culture, but have not yet been evaluated in patients.

2. Anti-adenovirus therapy with cidofovir and ribavirin

2.1. Mode of action

Most compounds reported to have anti-adenovirus activity are nucleoside or nucleotide analogues, such as cidofovir [(*S*)-HPMPC; (*S*)-1-(3-hydroxy-2-phosphonylmethoxypropyl)cytosine], (*S*)-HPMPA [(*S*)-9-(3-hydroxy-2-phosphonylmethoxypropyl)adenine] and 2'-nor-cyclic GMP (Baba et al., 1987; De Clercq, 2003). In general, cidofovir displays a higher antivi-

ral selectivity index (efficacy/toxicity ratio) compared to (S)-HPMPA. The acyclic nucleoside phosphonates are taken up by the cells by endocytosis, followed by conversion to their active metabolite through two consecutive phosphorylation steps by cellular enzymes. Their diphosphate forms then act as an analogue of the normal deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate substrate and are used as an alternative substrate by the adenovirus DNA polymerase. The antiviral selectivity of the acyclic nucleoside phosphonates is based on their higher affinity for the viral DNA polymerase compared to cellular DNA polymerases. The inhibitory effect of (S)-HPMPA diphosphate on adenovirus DNA chain elongation has been demonstrated using a reconstituted in vitro DNA replication system (Mul et al., 1989). Enzyme assays that mimic adenovirus DNA replication are rather complicated since the reaction requires the association of a multi-protein complex consisting of viral and cellular host factors (van der Vliet et al., 1984). The precise effects of cidofovir diphosphate on adenovirus DNA polymerase are unknown since mechanistic studies with cidofovir have not yet been performed. Cidofovirresistant adenovirus mutants, isolated after virus passage in vitro, have been found to contain distinct sequence changes in the adenovirus DNA polymerase, some being located close to a conserved region implicated in nucleotide binding (Gordon et al., 1996a; Kinchington et al., 2002).

Since adenoviruses, unlike herpesviruses, do not encode a thymidine kinase (TK), they are relatively insensitive to classical acyclic nucleoside analogues, such as ganciclovir and acyclovir, which depend on a specific virus-encoded TK for their first phosphorylation (De Clercq, 2003). In vitro, acyclovir and ganciclovir are active against adenovirus vectors carrying the herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) TK, hence, their triphosphate metabolites should be efficient inhibitors of the adenovirus DNA polymerase (Wildner et al., 2003). This has, however, not been studied at the enzymatic level.

Ribavirin (1-β-D-ribofuranosyl-1,2,4-triazole-3-carboxamide) is a purine nucleoside analogue, that is converted to its triphosphate form by cellular enzymes. Five different mechanisms have been proposed to explain its broad-spectrum antiviral activity (Graci and Cameron, 2006). Indirect mechanisms include reduction in cellular guanosine triphosphate pools via inhibition of inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase, and an immunomodulatory effect based on enhanced T-cell response. Direct mechanisms include inhibition of RNA capping activity, direct inhibition of viral polymerases, and increased mutation frequency via incorporation of ribavirin into newly synthesized genomes leading to error catastrophe. No information is available concerning the possible mechanism of action of ribavirin against adenoviruses.

2.2. Antiviral assays for adenovirus

The in vitro methodologies used to determine the activity of antiviral compounds against human adenoviruses are not standardized, making a comparison of available in vitro data very difficult. Accurate estimation of antiviral activity obviously depends on factors such as viral load ('multiplicity of infection'), host cell line, adenovirus serotype and the assay

used. Indirect tests to measure adenovirus replication include classical assays that are based on evaluation of the cytopathic effect (CPE), plaque formation and virus yield (Baba et al., 1987; Gordon et al., 1991). Though relatively easy and inexpensive, microscopic examination of CPE (characterized by rounding and clumping of cells) may be somewhat subjective. Alternatively, the viability of the infected cells can be measured with a spectrophotometric formazan-based method (Kodama et al., 1996). Direct quantification using immunofluorescence with antibodies directed against an adenovirus protein have been used (Mentel et al., 1997), yet microscopic quantification of fluorescent cells is relatively time consuming. More recently, real-time PCR methodology has been applied to evaluate antiviral compounds, based on the quantitative detection of human adenovirus DNA in infected cells (Wildner et al., 2003; Naesens et al., 2005). This real-time PCR technique is sensitive and reproducible and can replace classical and more labor-intensive techniques such as virus yield assays.

2.3. In vitro data

Several groups have determined the anti-adenovirus activity of cidofovir in cell culture. This compound proved to be a potent and selective inhibitor of adenovirus serotypes from all species (Morfin et al., 2005). In general, the reported EC50-values of cidofovir against adenoviruses fall in the range of 4.6–17 µg/ml (Gordon et al., 1991; Kodama et al., 1996; de Oliveira et al., 1996; Kaneko et al., 2001). In our experience, the activity of cidofovir is slightly higher (EC50 \approx 0.8 µg/ml) (Naesens et al., 2005). This broad anti-adenovirus activity is in agreement with the observation that one mutation in the adenovirus polymerase gene that is associated with cidofovir resistance (as demonstrated by marker rescue) is located close to a highly conserved region (Kinchington et al., 2002).

Concerning the anti-adenovirus activity of ribavirin in cell culture, the reports are much more divergent. Allen et al. (1978) and Sidwell et al. (1972) were the first to report inhibition of the CPE of Ad3 by ribavirin. The efficacy was confirmed for Ad5 (EC50: 1.7 μ g/ml) (Wildner et al., 2003) and Ad2 (EC50: 20 μ g/ml) (Kirsi et al., 1983). On the contrary, we found ribavirin to be inactive against Ad2 (Naesens et al., 2005), in line with the antiviral data from Baba et al. (1987), who studied different adenovirus serotypes from species B–E. The controversy on the activity of ribavirin has been adequately addressed by Morfin et al. (2005), who recently demonstrated that its in vitro activity is restricted to group C adenoviruses (EC50: 11.7–26.4 μ g/ml) and is dependent on the cell line.

2.4. In vivo data

A number of animal models have been developed for the in vivo evaluation of human adenovirus infection. In mice and cotton rats, inoculation of human type B or C species in the respiratory tract produces inflammatory pneumonia, but virus replication is abortive and restricted to the synthesis of early adenovirus proteins (Ginsberg et al., 1991; Kajon et al., 2003). On the other hand, after ocular inoculation, human type C aden-

oviruses are able to replicate in the eyes of cotton rats and New Zealand rabbits (Gordon et al., 1992; Tsai et al., 1992; Kaneko et al., 2004). Whereas no symptoms are seen in cotton rat eyes, some ocular inflammation can be observed in New Zealand rabbits. The ocular titers and the time course for viral shedding from the eye are similar to what is seen in human ocular adenovirus infections (Kinchington et al., 2005), thus making these animal models suitable for evaluating antiviral drugs against adenovirus-induced ocular diseases. Topical therapy with cidofovir (administered as eye drops containing 0.5–1% cidofovir) was found to significantly reduce the ocular adenovirus titers, in both therapeutic and prophylactic regimens (Gordon et al., 1994; de Oliveira et al., 1996; Romanowski et al., 2001; Kaneko et al., 2004).

Since adenoviruses are species-specific, in vivo models for disseminated adenovirus infections require the use of a nonhuman adenovirus. Inoculation of adult C57BL/6 mice with mouse adenovirus type 1 (MAV-1) results in a fatal hemorrhagic encephalomyelitis, whereas adult mice with a BALB/c background are resistant. Immunodeficient BALB/c mice are highly susceptible to MAV-1 infection and die from a non-neurological disseminated disease, characterized by hemorrhagic enteritis (Guida et al., 1995; Charles et al., 1998; Moore et al., 2004). We recently established a mouse model for anti-adenovirus therapy, based on MAV-1 infection of BALB/c-derived 'severe combined immunodeficient' (SCID) mice (Lenaerts et al., 2005). This fatal disseminated adenovirus infection in SCID mice is reminiscent of the clinical situation of adenovirus infection in humans in several aspects: (i) human adenovirus infections are mostly mild and self-limiting in healthy individuals, but can cause severe or lethal illness in immunocompromised patients; (ii) in these patients, a disseminated infection is common; (iii) enteritis, hemorrhagic cystitis, and hepatitis are common manifestations, while adenovirus encephalitis is relatively rare in humans. When cidofovir was evaluated in this MAV-1/SCID model, it caused a marked delay in MAV-1-induced disease. However, cidofovir was unable to completely suppress virus replication despite continued drug treatment, suggesting that complete virus clearance during antiviral therapy for disseminated adenovirus infection requires an efficient adaptive immune response from the host.

2.5. Clinical data

Antiviral treatment for adenovirus infections is warranted in two particular clinical settings: immunocompromised persons with life-threatening complications from adenovirus infections and cases of ocular adenovirus disease. In pilot studies, 1% cidofovir eyedrops for the treatment of adenoviral keratoconjunctivitis, were found to prevent severe corneal opacities, although frequent administration was associated with dosedependent and potentially severe local toxicity (Gordon et al., 1996b; Hillenkamp et al., 2001, 2002). Moreover, the outcome of antiviral therapy requires early intervention during the viral replicative phase, while medical consultation for severe keratoconjunctivitis usually occurs later, when pathology is mainly inflammatory. On the other hand, antiviral prophylaxis would

Table 1 Clinical studies with cidofovir and/or ribavirin for the treatment of severe adenovirus disease in immunocompromised patients

Patient type ^a	No. of patients receiving therapy ^b	Ad subgroup ^c	Therapy ^d	Outcome	Reference
BMT	2	NA	Ribavirin	2 died	Hale et al. (1999)
	9	NA	Ribavirin (8, 15, 16 mg/kg)	3 completely recovered; 6 had transient and partial recoveries but eventually died; efficacy of ribavirin was related to the donor type	Miyamura et al. (2000)
	12	NA	Ribavirin	2 showed clinical improvement	La Rosa et al. (2001)
	6	A, B, C	Cidofovir (5 mg/kg)	5 recovered; 1 died of disseminated adenovirus after interruption of cidofovir therapy	Legrand et al. (2001)
	2	NA	Cidofovir + ribavirin	2 died	Walls et al. (2005)
	4	A, B	Ribavirin $(10 \rightarrow 5 \text{ mg/kg}) + \text{IVIG}$	3 patients died; no patient cleared the adenovirus infection	Hromas et al. (1994)
	2	A or NA	Ribavirin (10 mg/kg), IVIG	1 receiving IVIG plus ribavirin died; 1 receiving IVIG survived	Crooks et al. (2000)
HSCT	8	NA	Cidofovir (1 mg/kg)	8 showed clinical improvement	Hoffman et al. (2001)
	41	A, B, C or NA	Cidofovir (1, 3, 4 or 5 mg/kg)	31 were successfully treated; 10 died	Ljungman et al. (2003)
	14	B or NA	Cidofovir (1 mg/kg)	10 showed clinical improvement	Nagafuji et al. (2004)
	2	NA	Cidofovir (5 mg/kg)	1 showed clinical improvement; 1 died	Gorczynska et al. (2005)
	10	NA	Cidofovir (5 mg/kg)	9 clinical improvement; 1 died	Muller et al. (2005)
	4	A, C	Ribavirin $(30 \rightarrow 60 \text{ mg/kg})$, cidofovir (5 mg/kg)	2 receiving ribavirin died; 2 receiving ribavirin, followed by cidofovir, died	Lankester et al. (2004)
	21	A, B, C, F or	Ribavirin $(8 \rightarrow 5 \text{ mg/kg})$,	16 receiving ribavirin or ribavirin plus cidofovir	Kampmann et al. (2005)
		NA	cidofovir (5 mg/kg)	achieved resolution of adenoviraemia; 5 died	
	21	A, B, C, D	Ribavirin $(35 \rightarrow 25 \text{ mg/kg})$, cidofovir (5 mg/kg) , DLI, vidarabine (10 mg/kg)	7 survived: 3 with ribavirin, 2 with cidofovir, 1 with ribavirin plus DLI and cidofovir, and 1 with ribavirin plus cidofovir	Bordigoni et al. (2001)
	4	С	Ribavirin (15 mg/kg), cidofovir (5 mg/kg), IVIG	3 receiving ribavirin died; 1 receiving cidofovir plus IVIG cleared adenovirus	Chakrabarti et al. (2002)

^a BMT, bone marrow transplantation; HSCT, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation.

be particularly useful in limiting adenovirus transmission to the adjacent eye as well as to relatives.

Clinical studies in immunocompromised patients have thus far focused on cidofovir or ribavirin (Table 1), except for one report showing that patients receiving ganciclovir for CMV prophylaxis have a lower risk of developing adenovirus infections (Bruno et al., 2003). Unfortunately, no placebo-controlled, randomized trials have yet been conducted. Also, interpretation and comparison of different studies is hampered by the heterogeneous background of the patients (i.e., pediatric versus adult patients; bone marrow, stem cell, or solid-organ transplant recipients and AIDS patients), by differences in the drug dosing schedules for antiviral and immunosuppressive drugs, and in the definitions of adenovirus disease and diagnostic procedures.

Most reports are from young children undergoing bone marrow or stem cell transplantation and manifesting severe adenovirus disease. Although failures with cidofovir have been described, most studies demonstrated that cidofovir is effective against adenovirus infections (Table 1). However, thus far cidofovir (Vistide®) has only been formally approved for the treatment of cytomegalovirus (CMV) retinitis in AIDS patients. Since cidofovir can be nephrotoxic, dose reductions are recommended in transplant recipients receiving cidofovir in combination with other nephrotoxic drugs. The renal toxicity of cidofovir is counteracted by concomitant use of hydration and probenecid.

The efficacy of ribavirin in the treatment of adenovirus infections is more controversial. In the clinical studies of Miyamura et al. (2000) and La Rosa et al. (2001), ribavirin appears rather ineffective against severe adenovirus diseases. Yet a number of case reports mention successful therapy with ribavirin (Cassano, 1991; Arav-Boger et al., 2000). These inconsistencies may be partially explained by serotype-related differences in the antiadenovirus activity of ribavirin (Morfin et al., 2005).

In general, neither cidofovir nor ribavirin has been found to be particularly effective against established adenovirus disease. Their success rate is higher when treatment is initiated early after diagnosis of adenovirus infection and before it has progressed into disease. This favors the possible use of these antivirals for the pre-emptive therapy or prophylaxis of adenovirus infections, which would require prospective and sensitive virus monitoring.

A factor that is often overlooked in the clinical studies on anti-adenovirus therapy is related to the patient's immune status. In several retrospective studies, failure of anti-adenovirus therapy was observed in heavily immunosuppressed patients who had received a T-cell-depleted graft or who suffered from severe graft-versus-host-disease. Conversely, there is a strong correlation between a positive outcome of adenovirus disease and immunological recovery, achieved by reduction or withdrawal of immunosuppressive therapy (Chakrabarti et al., 2002; van Tol et al., 2005). The importance of the immune response

^b Patients whose death was not related to adenovirus infection were excluded from the analysis.

^c NA, data not available.

^d IVIG, intravenous immunoglobulin; DLI, donor leukocyte infusion. When available, the dose is indicated between brackets.

was emphasized in a case report on an AIDS patient with disseminated adenovirus disease, who did not respond to antiviral therapy and died (Nebbia et al., 2005).

3. New nucleoside/nucleotide analogues

The clinical success of antiviral nucleoside analogues has paved the way for the synthesis and antiviral evaluation of new derivatives. Although a high-throughput screening system for adenoviruses remains to be established, small-scale antiviral studies have revealed a number of experimental compounds that are worth mentioning here.

An interesting class of new antivirals is represented by (S)-HPMPO-DAPy [2,4-diamino-6-[3-hydroxy-2-(phosphonomethoxy)-propoxy]pyrimidine], an acyclic nucleoside phosphonate derivative of 2,4-diaminopyrimidine. The marked anti-adenovirus activity of this compound is only slightly inferior to that of cidofovir and its adenine analogue (S)-HPMPA (Naesens et al., 2005). A related compound, PMEO-DAPy, is devoid of anti-adenovirus activity. PMEO-DAPy is identical to HPMPO-DAPy except for the hydroxymethyl group, that is missing in the acyclic chain of PMEO-DAPy (Holy et al., 2002). This hydroxymethyl group is present in cidofovir, (S)-HPMPA and (S)-HPMPO-DAPy, and appears to be a prerequisite for anti-adenovirus activity of the acyclic nucleoside phosphonates.

To overcome the low oral bioavailability of cidofovir, several lipophilic ester prodrugs of cidofovir have been synthesized. In adenovirus-infected cells, some of these prodrugs appeared to be 5- to 300-fold more active than cidofovir, with excellent selectivity (Hartline et al., 2005). These esters were shown to have an enhanced oral activity in mouse models for CMV and orthopoxvirus infections. In addition, these cidofovir prodrugs appear to have a lower potential for renal toxicity than cidofovir (Quenelle et al., 2004).

S-2242 [2-amino-7-(1,3-dihydroxy-2-propoxymethyl)purine] is an N_7 -substituted acyclic purine derivative with broad-spectrum anti-DNA virus activity due to its high phosphorylation efficiency by cellular kinases (Neyts et al., 1998). In cell culture, S-2242 has emerged as a potent inhibitor of adenovirus replication with a selectivity index that exceeds that of cidofovir (de Oliveira et al., 1996; Naesens et al., 2005).

An intriguing observation is the inhibition of adenoviruses by the antiretroviral 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside analogues. The marked in vitro activity of zalcitabine (ddC) and alovudine (FddT) was documented earlier by Mentel et al. (1997), and the efficacy of ddC was confirmed in a mouse model for adenovirus pneumonia (Mentel and Wegner, 2000). In our own in vitro experiments, ddC and FddT displayed EC₅₀-values in the same range as obtained for cidofovir (0.2–0.7 μ g/ml) (Naesens et al., 2005). Recently, the 5'-triphosphates of ddC and FddT, which are typical chain-terminating inhibitors of HIV reverse transcriptase, have been shown to inhibit the adenovirus DNA polymerase by competitive inhibition with the natural substrate (Mentel et al., 2000). Uckun et al. (2004) developed novel aryl phosphate derivatives of the antiretroviral 2',3'-dideonucleoside analogue stavudine (d4T). Besides their inhibitory effect on HIV,

these derivatives exhibit potent and selective anti-adenovirus activity with EC_{50} -values in the nanomolar range. Unlike other broad-acting nucleoside/nucleotide analogs, such as ribavirin, cidofovir, (*S*)-HPMPO-DAPy or S-2242, the antiviral activity of these 2′,3′-dideonucleoside analogues is restricted to HIV and adenoviruses. In one anecdotal report, the nucleoside analogue 6-azacytidine was observed to have an inhibitory effect on adenovirus replication in vitro (Alexeeva et al., 2001). Unfortunately, for most compounds summarized here, no biochemical data are available on their mode of action at the level of the adenovirus DNA polymerase complex.

4. New targets for anti-adenovirus therapy

The number of adenovirus proteins that have been exploited as potential target for antiviral therapy is limited. As described above, most compounds with reported anti-adenovirus activity are nucleoside or nucleotide analogues that act by inhibition of the adenovirus DNA polymerase.

The adenovirus adsorption process appears to be an attractive target, since the sulfated sialic acid derivative NMSO $_3$ was found to inhibit cellular binding of several human adenovirus serotypes at compound concentrations that did not affect cell viability (Kaneko et al., 2001). This virus adsorption inhibitor competes with the sialylated cell receptors for the binding of adenovirus particles. Since human adenoviruses with ocular tropism bind to a sialic acid-containing receptor (Arnberg et al., 2000a,b), NMSO $_3$ may be useful for the topical treatment of ocular adenovirus infections.

Inhibition of the adenovirus cysteine protease may be another antiviral approach, since this enzyme is indispensable for the production of infectious viral particles (Mangel et al., 2003). The adenovirus protease was shown to be susceptible to miscellaneous protease inhibitors, including papain inhibitors and green tea catechins (Sircar et al., 1998; Weber et al., 2003). Unfortunately, these inhibitors have a low specificity for the adenovirus protease which makes them unsuited as therapeutics. In order to identify highly specific adenovirus protease inhibitors, high-throughput screening along with computer modeling, as performed for HIV and hepatitis C virus, is needed. Recently, Pang et al. (2001) performed an in silico screening of a chemical library and identified 2,4,5,7-tetranitro-9-fluorenone as a new lead compound that selectively and irreversibly inhibits the adenovirus cysteine protease.

In a completely different approach, broad-spectrum antimicrobial compounds with an intrinsic role in innate immunity may have potential as therapeutic agents. The endogenous microbicide *N*-chlorotaurine is a weak oxidant produced by granulocytes and monocytes during inflammatory reactions. Because of its unspecific reaction mechanism (i.e., oxidation of amino-, thio-, and aromatic groups), it has demonstrated activity against bacteria, fungi, HSV and adenovirus (Nagl et al., 1998). *N*-chlorotaurine proved to be well tolerated when administered topically to rabbit and human eyes and in guinea pig ears (Neher et al., 2004), and was shown to be effective in phase II clinical trials with viral conjunctivitis (Teuchner et al., 2005). Likewise, activity against a broad range of pathogens (including aden-

ovirus) has been described for defensins, cathelicidins and other antimicrobial peptides (Gordon et al., 2005).

In addition, a number of miscellaneous compounds have been identified as inhibitors of adenovirus infection in cell culture. Among these are cyclic D,L- α -peptides that target the uncoating process of adenoviruses (Horne et al., 2005); cycloferon (Zarubaev et al., 2003); lactoferrin (Arnold et al., 2002); medical plant compounds (Chiang et al., 2003); nitric oxide (Cao et al., 2003); the anti-herpes cobalt chelate doxovir (Kinchington et al., 2005); heterocyclic Schiff bases of aminohydroxyguanidine tosylate (Das et al., 1999) and RGD peptidomimetic molecules (Hippenmeyer et al., 2002).

5. Immunotherapy for adenovirus infections

The clinical association between severe adenovirus infection and immunosuppression is a proof for the importance of the cellular and/or humoral immune response in the control of adenovirus infections. Since tapering of the immunosuppressive therapy is not always feasible, reconstitution of the host's immune system by immunotherapy could be an effective approach to prevent and treat adenovirus disease. However, the relative contribution of virus-neutralizing antibodies and virus-specific T-cells in the clearance of adenoviruses is still unclear.

Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) has been used in a few cases with variable results (Crooks et al., 2000; Emovon et al., 2003). Since IVIG preparations contain neutralizing antibodies against common adenovirus serotypes, they cannot confer protection against certain serotypes that are less prevalent in the general population, yet are often encountered in immunocompromised patients. IVIG could be effective against exogenous or primary adenovirus infections, but is unlikely to provide protection against reactivating virus. Likewise, in CMV therapy, IVIG has shown efficacy as a prophylactic agent, but not as a therapeutic modality. The fact that viral clearance requires functional T-cells, has led to the experimental use of donor leukocyte infusions in adenovirus-infected transplant recipients. This therapy is not feasible in cases of graft-versus-host-disease, unless prior selective depletion of alloreactive T-cells is performed. Alternatively, there may be a therapeutic benefit with ex vivo generated donor-derived adenovirus-specific T-cells, similarly as has been described for Epstein-Barr virus and CMV. Studies in healthy individuals demonstrated both CD4+ and CD8+ response to adenovirus, with the viral capsid antigens as the target for the cytotoxic T-cell (CTL) response (Leen and Rooney, 2005). Due to extensive cross-reactivity of adenovirus-specific T-cells across serotypes, adoptive transfer of CTLs may protect immunocompromised patients from infections by adenoviruses of all serotypes. To date, there have been no clinical trials using adenovirus-specific CTLs. As the CTLs must be generated for all individual patients, this process will be extremely costly, timeconsuming and labor-intensive.

6. Perspectives

As reviewed here, current therapeutic modalities for adenovirus infections are limited. With the population of immunocompromised patients growing, severe adenovirus infections will increase in frequency, underlining the urgent need for effective and safe anti-adenovirus therapy. The optimal approach would consist of prospective virus monitoring and pre-emptive suppression of adenovirus replication using antiviral and/or immunotherapy, in combination with tapering of the immunosuppression to allow immune recovery. To realize this, more investigations will be needed to discover new anti-adenovirus compounds, preferably targeting new viral targets, or to develop immunotherapeutic strategies by an improved understanding of the cellular and humoral immune response to adenoviruses.

Acknowledgments

Liesbeth Lenaerts is a Research Assistant of the Flemish Fonds voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek (FWO). The original work of the authors was supported by grants from the FWO (no. G.0267.04) and the Centers of Excellence of the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven (Krediet EF/05/015).

References

Alexeeva, I., Dyachenko, N., Nosach, L., Zhovnovataya, V., Rybalko, S., Lozitskaya, R., Fedchuk, A., Lozitsky, V., Gridina, T., Shalamay, A., Palchikovskaja, L., Povnitsa, O., 2001. 6-Azacytidine—compound with wide spectrum of antiviral activity. Nucleos. Nucleot. Nucleic Acids 20, 1147–1152.

Allen, L.B., Boswell, K.H., Khwaja, T.A., Meyer Jr., R.B., Sidwell, R.W., Witkowski, J.T., Christensen, L.F., Robins, R.K., 1978. Synthesis and antiviral acticity of some phosphates of the broad-spectrum antiviral nucleoside, 1-beta-D-ribofuranosyl-1,2,4-triazole-3-carboxamide (ribavirin). J. Med. Chem. 21, 742–746.

Arav-Boger, R., Echavarria, M., Forman, M., Charache, P., Persaud, D., 2000. Clearance of adenoviral hepatitis with ribavirin therapy in a pediatric liver transplant recipient. Pediatr. Infect. Dis. J. 19, 1097–1100.

Arnberg, N., Edlund, K., Kidd, A.H., Wadell, G., 2000a. Adenovirus type 37 uses sialic acid as a cellular receptor. J. Virol. 74, 42–48.

Arnberg, N., Kidd, A.H., Edlund, K., Olfat, F., Wadell, G., 2000b. Initial interactions of subgenus D adenoviruses with A549 cellular receptors: sialic acid versus alpha(v) integrins. J. Virol. 74, 7691–7693.

Arnold, D., Di Biase, A.M., Marchetti, M., Pietrantoni, A., Valenti, P., Seganti, L., Superti, F., 2002. Antiadenovirus activity of milk proteins: lactoferrin prevents viral infection. Antivir. Res. 53, 153–158.

Baba, M., Mori, S., Shigeta, S., De Clercq, E., 1987. Selective inhibitory effect of (S)-9-(3-hydroxy-2-phosphonylmethoxypropyl)adenine and 2'nor-cyclic GMP on adenovirus replication in vitro. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 31, 337–339.

Baldwin, A., Kingman, H., Darville, M., Foot, A.B., Grier, D., Cornish, J.M., Goulden, N., Oakhill, A., Pamphilon, D.H., Steward, C.G., Marks, D.I., 2000. Outcome and clinical course of 100 patients with adenovirus infection following bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 26, 1333–1338.

Bordigoni, P., Carret, A.S., Venard, V., Witz, F., Le Faou, A., 2001. Treatment of adenovirus infections in patients undergoing allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Clin. Infect. Dis. 32, 1290–1297.

Brandt, C.D., Kim, H.W., Vargosko, A.J., Jeffries, B.C., Arrobio, J.O., Rindge, B., Parrott, R.H., Chanock, R.M., 1969. Infections in 18,000 infants and children in a controlled study of respiratory tract disease. I. Adenovirus pathogenicity in relation to serologic type and illness syndrome. Am. J. Epidemiol. 90, 484–500.

Bruno, B., Gooley, T., Hackman, R.C., Davis, C., Corey, L., Boeckh, M., 2003. Adenovirus infection in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: effect of ganciclovir and impact on survival. Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant. 9, 341–352.

- Cao, W., Baniecki, M.L., McGrath, W.J., Bao, C., Deming, C.B., Rade, J.J., Lowenstein, C.J., Mangel, W.F., 2003. Nitric oxide inhibits the adenovirus proteinase in vitro and viral infectivity in vivo. FASEB J. 17, 2345–2346.
- Cassano, W.F., 1991. Intravenous ribavirin therapy for adenovirus cystitis after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 7, 247–248.
- Chakrabarti, S., Mautner, V., Osman, H., Collingham, K.E., Fegan, C.D., Klapper, P.E., Moss, P.A., Milligan, D.W., 2002. Adenovirus infections following allogeneic stem cell transplantation: incidence and outcome in relation to graft manipulation, immunosuppression, and immune recovery. Blood 100, 1619–1627.
- Charles, P.C., Guida, J.D., Brosnan, C.F., Horwitz, M.S., 1998. Mouse adenovirus type-1 replication is restricted to vascular endothelium in the CNS of susceptible strains of mice. Virology 245, 216–228.
- Chiang, L.C., Cheng, H.Y., Liu, M.C., Chiang, W., Lin, C.C., 2003. In vitro anti-herpes simplex viruses and anti-adenoviruses activity of twelve traditionally used medicinal plants in Taiwan. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 26, 1600–1604.
- Chuang, Y.Y., Chiu, C.H., Wong, K.S., Huang, J.G., Huang, Y.C., Chang, L.Y., Lin, T.Y., 2003. Severe adenovirus infection in children. J. Microbiol. Immunol. Infect. 36, 37–40.
- Crooks, B.N., Taylor, C.E., Turner, A.J., Osman, H.K., Abinun, M., Flood, T.J., Cant, A.J., 2000. Respiratory viral infections in primary immune deficiencies: significance and relevance to clinical outcome in a single BMT unit. Bone Marrow Transplant. 26, 1097–1102.
- Das, A., Trousdale, M.D., Ren, S., Lien, E.J., 1999. Inhibition of herpes simplex virus type 1 and adenovirus type 5 by heterocyclic Schiff bases of aminohydroxyguanidine tosylate. Antivir. Res. 44, 201–208.
- De Clercq, E., 2003. Clinical potential of the acyclic nucleoside phosphonates cidofovir, adefovir, and tenofovir in treatment of DNA virus and retrovirus infections. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 16, 569–596.
- de Oliveira, C.B., Stevenson, D., LaBree, L., McDonnell, P.J., Trousdale, M.D., 1996. Evaluation of Cidofovir (HPMPC, GS-504) against adenovirus type 5 infection in vitro and in a New Zealand rabbit ocular model. Antivir. Res. 31, 165–172.
- Emovon, O.E., Lin, A., Howell, D.N., Afzal, F., Baillie, M., Rogers, J., Baliga, P.K., Chavin, K., Nickeleit, V., Rajagapalan, P.R., Self, S., 2003. Refractory adenovirus infection after simultaneous kidney–pancreas transplantation: successful treatment with intravenous ribavirin and pooled human intravenous immunoglobulin. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 18, 2436–2438.
- Garnett, C.T., Erdman, D., Xu, W., Gooding, L.R., 2002. Prevalence and quantitation of species C adenovirus DNA in human mucosal lymphocytes. J. Virol. 76, 10608–10616.
- Ginsberg, H.S., Moldawer, L.L., Sehgal, P.B., Redington, M., Kilian, P.L., Chanock, R.M., Prince, G.A., 1991. A mouse model for investigating the molecular pathogenesis of adenovirus pneumonia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 1651–1655.
- Gorczynska, E., Turkiewicz, D., Rybka, K., Toporski, J., Kalwak, K., Dyla, A., Szczyra, Z., Chybicka, A., 2005. Incidence, clinical outcome, and management of virus-induced hemorrhagic cystitis in children and adolescents after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant. 11, 797–804.
- Gordon, Y.J., Araullo-Cruz, T.P., Johnson, Y.F., Romanowski, E.G., Kinchington, P.R., 1996a. Isolation of human adenovirus type 5 variants resistant to the antiviral cidofovir. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 37, 2774–2778.
- Gordon, Y.J., Huang, L.C., Romanowski, E.G., Yates, K.A., Proske, R.J., McDermott, A.M., 2005. Human cathelicidin (LL-37), a multifunctional peptide, is expressed by ocular surface epithelia and has potent antibacterial and antiviral activity. Curr. Eye Res. 30, 385–394.
- Gordon, Y.J., Naesens, L., De Clercq, E., Maudgal, P.C., Veckeneer, M., 1996b. Treatment of adenoviral conjunctivitis with topical cidofovir. Cornea 15, 546.
- Gordon, Y.J., Romanowski, E., Araullo-Cruz, T., 1992. An ocular model of adenovirus type 5 infection in the NZ rabbit. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 33, 574–580.
- Gordon, Y.J., Romanowski, E., Araullo-Cruz, T., Seaberg, L., Erzurum, S., Tolman, R., De Clercq, E., 1991. Inhibitory effect of (S)-HPMPC, (S)-

- HPMPA, and 2'-nor-cyclic GMP on clinical ocular adenoviral isolates is serotype-dependent in vitro. Antivir. Res. 16, 11–16.
- Gordon, Y.J., Romanowski, E.G., Araullo-Cruz, T., 1994. Topical HPMPC inhibits adenovirus type 5 in the New Zealand rabbit ocular replication model. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 35, 4135–4143.
- Graci, J.D., Cameron, C.E., 2006. Mechanisms of action of ribavirin against distinct viruses. Rev. Med. Virol. 16, 37–48.
- Guida, J.D., Fejer, G., Pirofski, L.A., Brosnan, C.F., Horwitz, M.S., 1995. Mouse adenovirus type 1 causes a fatal hemorrhagic encephalomyelitis in adult C57BL/6 but not BALB/c mice. J. Virol. 69, 7674–7681.
- Hale, G.A., Heslop, H.E., Krance, R.A., Brenner, M.A., Jayawardene, D., Srivastava, D.K., Patrick, C.C., 1999. Adenovirus infection after pediatric bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 23, 277– 282.
- Hartline, C.B., Gustin, K.M., Wan, W.B., Ciesla, S.L., Beadle, J.R., Hostetler, K.Y., Kern, E.R., 2005. Ether lipid-ester prodrugs of acyclic nucleoside phosphonates: activity against adenovirus replication in vitro. J. Infect. Dis. 191, 396–399.
- Hillenkamp, J., Reinhard, T., Ross, R.S., Bohringer, D., Cartsburg, O.,
 Roggendorf, M., De Clercq, E., Godehardt, E., Sundmacher, R., 2001.
 Topical treatment of acute adenoviral keratoconjunctivitis with 0.2%
 cidofovir and 1% cyclosporine: a controlled clinical pilot study. Arch.
 Ophthalmol. 119, 1487–1491.
- Hillenkamp, J., Reinhard, T., Ross, R.S., Bohringer, D., Cartsburg, O., Roggendorf, M., De Clercq, E., Godehardt, E., Sundmacher, R., 2002. The effects of cidofovir 1% with and without cyclosporin a 1% as a topical treatment of acute adenoviral keratoconjunctivitis: a controlled clinical pilot study. Ophthalmology 109, 845–850.
- Hippenmeyer, P.J., Ruminski, P.G., Rico, J.G., Lu, H.S., Griggs, D.W., 2002. Adenovirus inhibition by peptidomimetic integrin antagonists. Antivir. Res. 55, 169–178.
- Hoffman, J.A., Shah, A.J., Ross, L.A., Kapoor, N., 2001. Adenoviral infections and a prospective trial of cidofovir in pediatric hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant. 7, 388–394.
- Holy, A., Votruba, I., Masojidkova, M., Andrei, G., Snoeck, R., Naesens, L., De Clercq, E., Balzarini, J., 2002. 6-[2-(Phosphonomethoxy)alkoxy]pyrimidines with antiviral activity. J. Med. Chem. 45, 1918–1929.
- Horne, W.S., Wiethoff, C.M., Cui, C., Wilcoxen, K.M., Amorin, M., Ghadiri, M.R., Nemerow, G.R., 2005. Antiviral cyclic D,L-alpha-peptides: targeting a general biochemical pathway in virus infections. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 13, 5145–5153.
- Howard, D.S., Phillips II, G.L., Reece, D.E., Munn, R.K., Henslee-Downey, J., Pittard, M., Barker, M., Pomeroy, C., 1999. Adenovirus infections in hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients. Clin. Infect. Dis. 29, 1494–1501.
- Hromas, R., Clark, C., Blanke, C., Tricot, G., Cornetta, K., Hedderman, A., Broun, E.R., 1994. Failure of ribavirin to clear adenovirus infections in T cell-depleted allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 14, 663–664.
- Kajon, A.E., Gigliotti, A.P., Harrod, K.S., 2003. Acute inflammatory response and remodeling of airway epithelium after subspecies B1 human adenovirus infection of the mouse lower respiratory tract. J. Med. Virol. 71, 233–244.
- Kampmann, B., Cubitt, D., Walls, T., Naik, P., Depala, M., Samarasinghe, S., Robson, D., Hassan, A., Rao, K., Gaspar, H., Davies, G., Jones, A., Cale, C., Gilmour, K., Real, M., Foo, M., Bennett-Rees, N., Hewitt, A., Amrolia, P., Veys, P., 2005. Improved outcome for children with disseminated adenoviral infection following allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Br. J. Haematol. 130, 595–603.
- Kaneko, H., Kato, K., Mori, S., Shigeta, S., 2001. Antiviral activity of NMSO₃ against adenovirus in vitro. Antivir. Res. 52, 281–288.
- Kaneko, H., Mori, S., Suzuki, O., Iida, T., Shigeta, S., Abe, M., Ohno, S., Aoki, K., Suzutani, T., 2004. The cotton rat model for adenovirus ocular infection: antiviral activity of cidofovir. Antivir. Res. 61, 63–66.
- Kinchington, P.R., Araullo-Cruz, T., Vergnes, J.P., Yates, K., Gordon, Y.J., 2002. Sequence changes in the human adenovirus type 5 DNA polymerase associated with resistance to the broad spectrum antiviral cidofovir. Antivir. Res. 56, 73–84.

- Kinchington, P.R., Romanowski, E.G., Jerold, G.Y., 2005. Prospects for adenovirus antivirals. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 55, 424–429.
- Kirsi, J.J., North, J.A., McKernan, P.A., Murray, B.K., Canonico, P.G., Huggins, J.W., Srivastava, P.C., Robins, R.K., 1983. Broad-spectrum antiviral activity of 2-beta-D-ribofuranosylselenazole-4-carboxamide, a new antiviral agent. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 24, 353–361.
- Kodama, E., Shigeta, S., Suzuki, T., De Clercq, E., 1996. Application of a gastric cancer cell line (MKN-28) for anti-adenovirus screening using the MTT method. Antivir. Res. 31, 159–164.
- Kojaoghlanian, T., Flomenberg, P., Horwitz, M.S., 2003. The impact of adenovirus infection on the immunocompromised host. Rev. Med. Virol. 13, 155–171.
- La Rosa, A.M., Champlin, R.E., Mirza, N., Gajewski, J., Giralt, S., Rolston, K.V., Raad, I., Jacobson, K., Kontoyiannis, D., Elting, L., Whimbey, E., 2001. Adenovirus infections in adult recipients of blood and marrow transplants. Clin. Infect. Dis. 32, 871–876.
- Lankester, A.C., Heemskerk, B., Claas, E.C., Schilham, M.W., Beersma, M.F., Bredius, R.G., van Tol, M.J., Kroes, A.C., 2004. Effect of ribavirin on the plasma viral DNA load in patients with disseminating adenovirus infection. Clin. Infect. Dis. 38, 1521–1525.
- Leen, A.M., Rooney, C.M., 2005. Adenovirus as an emerging pathogen in immunocompromised patients. Br. J. Haematol. 128, 135–144.
- Legrand, F., Berrebi, D., Houhou, N., Freymuth, F., Faye, A., Duval, M., Mougenot, J.F., Peuchmaur, M., Vilmer, E., 2001. Early diagnosis of adenovirus infection and treatment with cidofovir after bone marrow transplantation in children. Bone Marrow Transplant. 27, 621–626.
- Lenaerts, L., Verbeken, E., De Clercq, E., Naesens, L., 2005. Mouse adenovirus type 1 infection in SCID mice: an experimental model for antiviral therapy of systemic adenovirus infections. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 49, 4689–4699.
- Ljungman, P., Ribaud, P., Eyrich, M., Matthes-Martin, S., Einsele, H., Bleakley, M., Machaczka, M., Bierings, M., Bosi, A., Gratecos, N., Cordonnier, C., 2003. Cidofovir for adenovirus infections after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: a survey by the Infectious Diseases Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant. 31, 481–486.
- Mangel, W.F., Baniecki, M.L., McGrath, W.J., 2003. Specific interactions of the adenovirus proteinase with the viral DNA, an 11-amino-acid viral peptide, and the cellular protein actin. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 60, 2347–2355.
- Mei, Y.F., Lindman, K., Wadell, G., 1998. Two closely related adenovirus genome types with kidney or respiratory tract tropism differ in their binding to epithelial cells of various origins. Virology 240, 254–266.
- Mentel, R., Kinder, M., Wegner, U., Janta-Lipinski, M., Matthes, E., 1997. Inhibitory activity of 3'-fluoro-2' deoxythymidine and related nucleoside analogues against adenoviruses in vitro. Antivir. Res. 34, 113–119.
- Mentel, R., Kurek, S., Wegner, U., Janta-Lipinski, M., Gurtler, L., Matthes, E., 2000. Inhibition of adenovirus DNA polymerase by modified nucleoside triphosphate analogs correlate with their antiviral effects on cellular level. Med. Microbiol. Immunol. (Berl) 189, 91–95.
- Mentel, R., Wegner, U., 2000. Evaluation of the efficacy of 2',3'-dideoxycytidine against adenovirus infection in a mouse pneumonia model. Antivir. Res. 47, 79–87.
- Miyamura, K., Hamaguchi, M., Taji, H., Kanie, T., Kohno, A., Tanimoto, M., Saito, H., Kojima, S., Matsuyama, T., Kitaori, K., Nagafuji, K., Sato, T., Kodera, Y., 2000. Successful ribavirin therapy for severe adenovirus hemorrhagic cystitis after allogeneic marrow transplant from close HLA donors rather than distant donors. Bone Marrow Transplant. 25, 545–548.
- Moore, M.L., McKissic, E.L., Brown, C.C., Wilkinson, J.E., Spindler, K.R., 2004. Fatal disseminated mouse adenovirus type 1 infection in mice lacking B cells or Bruton's tyrosine kinase. J. Virol. 78, 5584–5590.
- Morfin, F., Dupuis-Girod, S., Mundweiler, S., Falcon, D., Carrington, D., Sedlacek, P., Bierings, M., Cetkovsky, P., Kroes, A.C., van Tol, M.J., Thouvenot, D., 2005. In vitro susceptibility of adenovirus to antiviral drugs is species-dependent. Antivir. Ther. 10, 225–229.
- Mul, Y.M., van Miltenburg, R.T., De Clercq, E., van der Vliet, P.C., 1989.
 Mechanism of inhibition of adenovirus DNA replication by the acyclic nucleoside triphosphate analogue (S)-HPMPApp: influence of the adenovirus DNA binding protein. Nucleic Acids Res. 17, 8917–8929.

- Muller, W.J., Levin, M.J., Shin, Y.K., Robinson, C., Quinones, R., Malcolm, J., Hild, E., Gao, D., Giller, R., 2005. Clinical and in vitro evaluation of cidofovir for treatment of adenovirus infection in pediatric hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients. Clin. Infect. Dis. 41, 1812–1816.
- Munoz, F.M., Piedra, P.A., Demmler, G.J., 1998. Disseminated adenovirus disease in immunocompromised and immunocompetent children. Clin. Infect. Dis. 27, 1194–1200.
- Naesens, L., Lenaerts, L., Andrei, G., Snoeck, R., Van Beers, D., Holy, A., Balzarini, J., De Clercq, E., 2005. Antiadenovirus activities of several classes of nucleoside and nucleotide analogues. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 49, 1010–1016.
- Nagafuji, K., Aoki, K., Henzan, H., Kato, K., Miyamoto, T., Eto, T., Nagatoshi, Y., Ohba, T., Obama, K., Gondo, H., Harada, M., 2004. Cidofovir for treating adenoviral hemorrhagic cystitis in hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients. Bone Marrow Transplant. 34, 909–914.
- Nagl, M., Larcher, C., Gottardi, W., 1998. Activity of *N*-chlorotaurine against herpes simplex- and adenoviruses. Antivir. Res. 38, 25–30.
- Nebbia, G., Chawla, A., Schutten, M., Atkinson, C., Raza, M., Johnson, M., Geretti, A., 2005. Adenovirus viraemia and dissemination unresponsive to antiviral therapy in advanced HIV-1 infection. AIDS 19, 1339–1340.
- Neher, A., Nagl, M., Prieskorn, D., Mitchell, A., Brown, N., Schrott-Fischer, A., Miller, J.M., 2004. Tolerability of *N*-chlorotaurine in the guinea pig middle ear: a pilot study using an improved application system. Ann. Otol. Rhinol. Laryngol. 113, 76–81.
- Neyts, J., Balzarini, J., Andrei, G., Chaoyong, Z., Snoeck, R., Zimmermann, A., Mertens, T., Karlsson, A., De Clercq, E., 1998. Intracellular metabolism of the N₇-substituted acyclic nucleoside analog 2-amino-7-(1,3-dihydroxy-2-propoxymethyl)purine, a potent inhibitor of herpesvirus replication. Mol. Pharmacol. 53, 157–165.
- Pang, Y.P., Xu, K., Kollmeyer, T.M., Perola, E., McGrath, W.J., Green, D.T., Mangel, W.F., 2001. Discovery of a new inhibitor lead of adenovirus proteinase: steps toward selective, irreversible inhibitors of cysteine proteinases. FEBS Lett. 502, 93–97.
- Quenelle, D.C., Collins, D.J., Wan, W.B., Beadle, J.R., Hostetler, K.Y., Kern, E.R., 2004. Oral treatment of cowpox and vaccinia virus infections in mice with ether lipid esters of cidofovir. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48, 404-412.
- Romanowski, E.G., Yates, K.A., Gordon, Y.J., 2001. Antiviral prophylaxis with twice daily topical cidofovir protects against challenge in the adenovirus type 5/New Zealand rabbit ocular model. Antivir. Res. 52, 275–280
- Schilham, M.W., Claas, E.C., van Zaane, W., Heemskerk, B., Vossen, J.M., Lankester, A.C., Toes, R.E., Echavarria, M., Kroes, A.C., van Tol, M.J., 2002. High levels of adenovirus DNA in serum correlate with fatal outcome of adenovirus infection in children after allogeneic stem-cell transplantation. Clin. Infect. Dis. 35, 526–532.
- Segerman, A., Atkinson, J.P., Marttila, M., Dennerquist, V., Wadell, G., Arnberg, N., 2003. Adenovirus type 11 uses CD46 as a cellular receptor. J. Virol. 77, 9183–9191.
- Sidwell, R.W., Huffman, J.H., Khare, G.P., Allen, L.B., Witkowski, J.T., Robins, R.K., 1972. Broad-spectrum antiviral activity of virazole: 1-betap-ribofuranosyl-1,2,4-triazole-3-carboxamide. Science 177, 705–706.
- Sircar, S., Ruzindana-Umunyana, A., Neugebauer, W., Weber, J.M., 1998.
 Adenovirus endopeptidase and papain are inhibited by the same agents.
 Antivir. Res. 40, 45–51.
- Straussberg, R., Harel, L., Levy, Y., Amir, J., 2001. A syndrome of transient encephalopathy associated with adenovirus infection. Pediatrics 107, E69.
- Teuchner, B., Nagl, M., Schidlbauer, A., Ishiko, H., Dragosits, E., Ulmer, H., Aoki, K., Ohno, S., Mizuki, N., Gottardi, W., Larcher, C., 2005. Tolerability and efficacy of *N*-chlorotaurine in epidemic keratoconjunctivitis—a double-blind, randomized, phase-2 clinical trial. J. Ocul. Pharmacol. Ther. 21, 157–165.
- Tsai, J.C., Garlinghouse, G., McDonnell, P.J., Trousdale, M.D., 1992. An experimental animal model of adenovirus-induced ocular disease. The cotton rat. Arch. Ophthalmol. 110, 1167–1170.
- Uckun, F.M., Pendergrass, S., Qazi, S., Samuel, P., Venkatachalam, T.K., 2004. Phenyl phosphoramidate derivatives of stavudine as anti-HIV agents

- with potent and selective in-vitro antiviral activity against adenovirus. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 39, 225–234.
- van der Vliet, P.C., van Bergen, B.G., van Driel, W., van Dam, D., Kwant, M.M., 1984. Replication in vitro of adenovirus DNA. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 179 (93–105), 93–105.
- van Tol, M.J., Claas, E.C., Heemskerk, B., Veltrop-Duits, L.A., de Brouwer, C.S., van Vreeswijk, T., Sombroek, C.C., Kroes, A.C., Beersma, M.F., de Klerk, E.P., Egeler, R.M., Lankester, A.C., Schilham, M.W., 2005. Adenovirus infection in children after allogeneic stem cell transplantation: diagnosis, treatment and immunity. Bone Marrow Transplant. 35 (Suppl. 1), S73–S76.
- Walls, T., Hawrami, K., Ushiro-Lumb, I., Shingadia, D., Saha, V., Shankar, A.G., 2005. Adenovirus infection after pediatric bone marrow transplantation: is treatment always necessary? Clin. Infect. Dis. 40, 1244–1249.

- Weber, J.M., Ruzindana-Umunyana, A., Imbeault, L., Sircar, S., 2003. Inhibition of adenovirus infection and adenain by green tea catechins. Antivir. Res. 58, 167–173.
- Wildner, O., Hoffmann, D., Jogler, C., Uberla, K., 2003. Comparison of HSV-1 thymidine kinase-dependent and -independent inhibition of replicationcompetent adenoviral vectors by a panel of drugs. Cancer Gene Ther. 10, 791–802.
- Xiao, J., Nataraja, K., Rajala, M.S., Astley, R.A., Ramadan, R.T., Chodosh, J., 2005. Vitronectin: a possible determinant of adenovirus type 19 tropism for human corneal epithelium. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 140, 363–369.
- Zarubaev, V.V., Slita, A.V., Krivitskaya, V.Z., Sirotkin, A.K., Kovalenko, A.L., Chatterjee, N.K., 2003. Direct antiviral effect of cycloferon (10-carboxymethyl-9-acridanone) against adenovirus type 6 in vitro. Antivir. Res. 58, 131–137.